RECEIVED

FEB 10 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

---

Case No. 14-ALJ-17-0158-CC  
Appellate Case No. 2015-001509

---

DIRECTV, Inc. and its Subsidiaries,..... Appellant,  
v.  
South Carolina Department of Revenue,..... Respondent.

---

**AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

John C. von Lehe, Jr.  
SC Bar No. 5719  
E-Mail: john.vonlehe@nelsonmullins.com  
Bryson M. Geer  
SC Bar No. 13606  
E-Mail: bryson.geer@nelsonmullins.com  
NELSON MULLINS RILEY &  
SCARBOROUGH LLP  
151 Meeting Street / Sixth Floor

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT (“ALC”) ERR BY APPLYING AN IMPROPER BURDEN OF PROOF?
- II. DID THE ALC ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE INCOME-PRODUCING ACTIVITIES OF APPELLANT, DIRECTV, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES (“DIRECTV”), CONSIST SOLELY OF THE DELIVERY OF THE SIGNAL INTO THE HOMES OF DIRECTV’S CUSTOMERS?
- III. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THAT DIRECTV FAILED TO ESTABLISH THE PORTION OF ITS INCOME-PRODUCING ACTIVITIES THAT WERE CONDUCTED IN SOUTH CAROLINA?
- IV. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THAT THE IMPOSITION OF SUBSTANTIAL UNDERSTATEMENT PENALTIES WAS PROPER?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case involves a protest by DIRECTV of: (i) a denial of corporate income tax refund claims filed for the tax periods ended December 31, 2006 through December 31, 2008; (ii) a protest of an assessment asserting a corporate income tax deficiency for the tax periods ended December 31, 2009 through December 31, 2011; and (iii) a protest of an assessment asserting a license fee deficiency for the tax periods ended December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2012. Following a conference with Appellant, the South Carolina Department of Revenue (“Department”) issued a Department Determination, dated February 18, 2014 (“Determination”), to DIRECTV for income tax periods ended December 31, 2006 through December 31, 2011, and license fee periods ended December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2012 (collectively, the “Period at Issue”), which: (i) denied corporate income tax refund claims in the amount of \$3,784,934 for the 2006 through 2008 tax years; (ii) sustained a corporate income tax deficiency of \$6,613,067, interest of \$651,397 and penalties of \$1,653,266 for the 2009 through 2011 tax years; and

(iii) sustained a license fee deficiency of \$33,101, interest of \$2,028 and penalties of \$8,275 for the 2010 through 2012 periods. R. pp. 57-64. DIRECTV timely requested a contested case hearing of the Determination before the ALC pursuant to South Carolina Code Ann. § 1-23-600 (2015) and §12-60-460 (2015).

The ALC held a hearing on January 13 and 14, 2015, and issued a Final Order and Decision on May 12, 2015 finding for the Department on all issues (the “Original Order”). R. pp. 1-22. On May 22, 2015, DIRECTV filed a Motion for Reconsideration pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e) and ALC Rule of Procedure 29(D). R. pp. 65-101. On June 1, 2015, the Department filed a Response to Petitioner’s Motion for Reconsideration (R. pp. 102-123), and on June 5, 2015 DIRECTV filed a Reply to the Department’s Response.

On June 12, 2015, the ALC issued (i) a Reconsideration Order (R. pp. 23-30), which addressed the issues raised in DIRECTV’s Motion for Reconsideration, and (ii) an Amended Final Order and Decision , which reflected changes made to the Original Order upon reconsideration (the “Amended Final Order”) (R. pp. 31-53). The Amended Final Order modified certain language from the Original Order, partially abated the substantial underpayment penalty imposed on DIRECTV and found for the Department on all remaining issues. *Id.* Through the Amended Final Order, the ALC ordered that DIRECTV’s refund claims be denied and that DIRECTV be assessed \$6,646,168.00 in tax and license fees, \$653,425.00 in interest and \$1,246,155.75 in penalties with regard to its 2009 through 2011 income tax returns. *Id.*

On July 9, 2015, DIRECTV filed a bond with the ALC in the amount of \$7,604,589, representing the tax and interest through July 12, 2015 shown as due in the Amended Final Order. R. pp. 981-987. On July 14, 2015, DIRECTV timely filed a Notice of Appeal. R. pp. 955-980. On August 11, 2015, DIRECTV was granted a 30-day extension of time, until September 9, 2015, for serving and filing its initial brief and designation of record. R. p. 54. On September 11, 2015, DIRECTV was granted a second 30-day extension, until October 9, 2015 to serve and file its initial brief and designation of record. R. pp. 55-56.<sup>1</sup>

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **I. DIRECTV's Business Activities**

DIRECTV is a California corporation with its headquarters and principal place of business in California. Transcript of ALC Hearing ("Tr."); R. p. 176:3-12. DIRECTV is a leading provider of direct-to-home ("DTH") digital television entertainment, and is engaged in acquiring, promoting, producing, and distributing high-quality digital entertainment programming primarily via satellite to residential and commercial subscribers throughout the United States, including South Carolina. Tr.; R. pp. 172:21-174:23; pp. 186:3- 187:18. Almost all of the activities related to the provision of its programming services occur outside of South Carolina. Expert Report of Dr. Brian J. Cody ("Cody Rpt."), R. pp. 743-769; Tr., R. pp. 172:16- 204:11. DIRECTV did not

---

<sup>1</sup> After all briefing had been filed, the Court requested that the parties correct the Record on Appeal such that a full versus condensed trial transcript was included therein. DIRECTV then filed an Amended Record on Appeal. Due to the resulting changes to the pagination of the Record, DIRECTV is filing this Amended Final Brief as well as an Amended Reply Brief to conform all citations to the Amended Record on Appeal.

maintain any offices in South Carolina during the Period at Issue, and almost all of the employees and assets involved in the provision of its programming services were located outside of South Carolina. Cody Rpt., R. pp. 743-769; Tr., R. pp. 172:16- 204:11; 486:16- 487:1; 487:17- 488:8. In fact, during the Period at Issue, only two of DIRECTV's employees worked in South Carolina. Tr., R. p. 486:16- 487:1.

DIRECTV packages and delivers high-quality video entertainment to subscribers throughout the United States. Tr., R. p. 172:21- 173:1. Testimony at trial established that the principal value drivers of DIRECTV's business are: (i) content development (both original and acquired programming); (ii) broadcast operations; (iii) marketing and sales; and (iv) customer service. Tr., R. pp. 174:17-23; 328:20- 329:16.

**A. Content Development Activities**

Mr. Philip Goswitz, Senior Vice President of Space, Communications and Video at DIRECTV, explained that development of high-quality and unique programming is of paramount importance to DIRECTV. Tr., R. pp. 171:5-7; 172:16-183:8. DIRECTV's content development activities include the acquisition of content from third-party providers such as movie studios, broadcast television networks (*e.g.*, ABC, FOX, and NBC), local broadcast stations, and providers of cable programming (*e.g.*, HBO, STARZ, and ESPN). Tr., R. p. 177:8- 178:6. DIRECTV also provides a premier sporting experience through exclusive arrangements with sports leagues such as the National Football League ("NFL"), with which it has an exclusive agreement whereby DIRECTV subscribers are able to watch almost every NFL game. Tr., R. p. 177:18- 178:1; 180:7- 182:16. DIRECTV employees in California negotiate the agreements with the sports

leagues, movie studios, national broadcast networks, local television stations, and cable networks. Tr., R. p. 183:9-11.

DIRECTV also produces several types of original programming, including musical specials, original series such as “Friday Night Lights” (a television series about high school football), and original sporting events such as pay-per-view boxing and DIRECTV’s own branded version of ultimate fighting called “Bare Knuckle Boxing.” Tr., R. p. 178:7-24. DIRECTV also produces original content that enhances content acquired from third-parties. Tr., R. pp. 177:8- 178:6 and 179:3-20; 180:7- 181:18. For example, DIRECTV developed the “Masters Experience” to enhance traditional network coverage of the Masters golf tournament by placing additional cameras throughout the golf course, providing subscribers with the ability to watch play at particular holes, and/or follow particular groups of players throughout their round. Tr., R. p. 179:3-20. DIRECTV employees in California are responsible for developing DIRECTV’s original programming. Tr., R. p. 183:9-11.

#### **B. Broadcast Operations**

DIRECTV receives content acquired from third-parties in several ways, including by satellite, fiber-optic cable, and over-the-air broadcast. Tr., R. pp. 183:18- 187:18 The signals for national programming content are collected at national “broadcast centers” in California, Denver, and Colorado, which contain facilities to receive, process, and transmit the programming content signals.<sup>2</sup> Tr., R. pp. 190:23- 193:12.

---

<sup>2</sup> A separate legal entity, DIRECTV Operations, owned the broadcast centers. Tr., R. p. 194:6-7.

DIRECTV collects programming from local broadcast television stations through local collection facilities (“LCFs”), which are unmanned facilities consisting of antennae and other receiving equipment. Tr., R. p. 186:3- 187:18. DIRECTV maintains LCFs throughout the country, roughly corresponding to each of the 210 Nielsen assigned designated market areas (“DMAs”) in the United States. *Id.* DIRECTV collects over 1500 local channels at LCFs that it maintains in each DMA. Tr., R. p. 186:3- 187:18. There are seven DMAs covering South Carolina, including the DMAs located in (i) Charlotte, North Carolina, (ii) Augusta, Georgia, and (iii) Savannah, Georgia. Tr., R. p. 189:1-12. During the Period at Issue, there were only four LCFs in South Carolina. Tr., R. pp. 187:19-25; 189:4-12.

DIRECTV’s provision of local programming services is inherently national in scope. For example, because federal law mandates that customers can only view local programming within their respective DMA, a South Carolina customer living in the Charlotte, North Carolina DMA may only watch Charlotte, North Carolina local programming that is collected from an LCF in North Carolina. Tr., R. p. 189:16- 190:22. Similarly, a South Carolina customer living in the Savannah, Georgia DMA may only watch Savannah, Georgia local programming. Tr., R. p. 190:9-11.

During the Period at Issue, content gathered at the LCFs was collected at uplink facilities owned by DIRECTV and located in (i) Arizona, (ii) Georgia, (iii) Minnesota, (iv) New Hampshire, (v) Virginia, and (vi) Washington. Tr., R. p. 187:3-18.

The uplink facilities and broadcast centers transmit the programming content signals to the satellites in geo-stationary orbit above the earth.<sup>3</sup> Tr., R. pp. 187:10-18; 194:11- 195:23. Each satellite occupies a federally assigned orbital slot. Cody Rpt., R. p. 755. Those orbital slots are a “vital crown jewel” of the business because they are centrally located and provide a clear view of the entire United States, which permits programming to be delivered by beams covering the entire United States (“CONUS” beams). Tr., R. p. 196:4-21. National programming is transmitted by these so-called CONUS beams. Tr., R. p. 194:15- 195:5. Local programming is transmitted in narrow beams that may cover multiple DMAs. Tr., R. p. 194:15- 195:23.

The satellites transmit the signals received from the broadcast centers and regional uplink facilities directly to customers, who receive the signals by a small “satellite dish” mounted on or near their homes. Tr., R. p. 196:22- 197:20. The signals are then relayed from the dish to a “set-top box,” which delivers the signals to the customers’ television sets. Tr., R. p. 197:14-20. During the Period at Issue, DIRECTV began leasing the set-top boxes to customers in exchange for a lease fee. Tr., R. p. 198:4-11.

### **C. Marketing and Sales Activities**

The purpose of DIRECTV’s marketing and sales activities is to communicate its programming services to premium subscribers that want the highest-end video experience, as well as a sports-centric experience. Tr., R. p. 201:11-22. DIRECTV

---

<sup>3</sup> DIRECTV used 11 satellites that were owned by a separate legal entity, DIRECTV Enterprises, during the Period at Issue. Tr., R. pp. 195:24- 196:3.

engages in national advertising campaigns that use the same production value and writing that usually go into feature length films. Tr., R. p. 201:23- 202:12. DIRECTV tries to have very distinctive marketing activities that show its unique brand. Tr., R. p. 201:11-202:12. The goal of DIRECTV's print and television advertising is to encourage customers to call an 800-number and place an order for television services. Tr., R. p. 199:4-10.

**D. Customer Service Activities**

DIRECTV spends significant time and effort to provide the best possible customer care. Tr., R. p. 174:13-16. DIRECTV's customer care activities are headquartered in California and organized from a center in Denver, Colorado. Tr., R. p. 198:17-21. During the Period at Issue, customer service support was provided to customers through both owned and operated internal call centers, as well as third-party call centers.<sup>4</sup> Tr., R. p. 198:22- 199:16. The internal call centers were located in Alabama, Colorado, Idaho, Montana, Oklahoma, and Virginia. Tr., R. p. 199:17-23. None of the internal or third-party call centers were located in South Carolina. Tr., R. pp. 199:24- 200:5.

The internal and third-party call centers took customer orders and facilitated the installation of equipment. Tr., R. p. 200:6- 201:1. During the Period at Issue, DIRECTV hired third-party home service providers ("HSPs") to install dishes and set-top boxes in customers' homes. Tr., R. p. 482:20- 483:7. Beginning in 2008, DIRECTV began

---

<sup>4</sup> The internal call centers were owned by DIRECTV Customer Services, Inc. Tr., R. p. 199:11-12.

acquiring certain of those HSPs. *Id.* There were no DIRECTV “in-house” installers operating in South Carolina during the Period at Issue. Tr., R. p. 483:12-15.

## **II. Dr. Brian J. Cody’s Expert Report and Testimony**

DIRECTV’s expert economist, Dr. Brian J. Cody, performed a two-step analysis of DIRECTV’s business activities. Cody Rpt., R. p. 743; Tr., R. p. 327:13-19. First, Dr. Cody identified from an economic perspective the income-producing activities of DIRECTV by analyzing DIRECTV’s “primary value drivers.” Cody Rpt., R. p. 743; Tr., R. p. 327:13-16. Second, Dr. Cody determined the location of those income-producing activities for the Period at Issue using a formula based on DIRECTV’s payroll and assets. Cody Rpt., R. p. 743; Tr., R. p. 327:16-19.

### **A. Identification of Income-Producing Activities**

To identify DIRECTV’s income-producing activities, Dr. Cody “[u]ndertook a wide range of activities,” which included reviewing public documents on DIRECTV, reviewing DIRECTV’s Securities and Exchange Commission 10-K Reports and financial data, and speaking with employees at DIRECTV. Tr., R. p. 328:2-19. Dr. Cody explained that, to determine DIRECTV’s income-producing activities, “you need to look at each of those activities I described and get behind what is really creating the value that consumers ultimately pay for,” and “[s]o it goes back to that basic economic functional analysis where I look at the important functions, risks and assets that are employed in the business.” Tr., R. p. 351:6-13. Based on his analysis, Dr. Cody found that there are four primary value drivers that influence a customer’s decision to subscribe to DIRECTV’s programming services: (i) content development (both original and acquired

programming); (ii) marketing; (iii) broadcast operations; and (iv) customer service. Cody Rpt., R. pp. 749 and 760; Tr., R. p. 329:2-16.

Dr. Cody concluded that these primary value drivers are DIRECTV's income-producing activities because they are "the activities that DIRECTV engages in in order to convert potential customers into subscribers and to retain and drive additional income from existing subscribers." Tr., R. pp. 342:1-3; 344:6-11; 351:3-9. Dr. Cody's conclusion is consistent with testimony from DIRECTV's Rule 30(b)(6) witness, who testified that DIRECTV considered its income-producing activities to be the "assets and the employees that perform the service which puts the video into the television of its customers." Tr., R. p. 502:15-18.<sup>5</sup>

In discussing his conclusion that content is a primary value driver for DIRECTV, Dr. Cody explained that "[c]ontent is what the subscriber ultimately receives from DIRECTV" and that "as I was doing my research and I looked at DIRECTV's ability to charge premium prices, it really kept bringing me back to that premium content that was there." Tr., R. p. 329:23- 330:23. To highlight the significance of content on DIRECTV's value, Dr. Cody pointed out that AT&T's acquisition of DIRECTV was contingent upon the renewal of DIRECTV's exclusive deal with the NFL for Sunday Ticket. Cody Rpt., R. p. 750; Tr., R. p. 330:24- 331:16. Dr. Cody explained that content distinguishes DIRECTV in a highly competitive industry and allows DIRECTV to charge premium prices. Tr., R. p. 332:8-18.

---

<sup>5</sup> Portions of the testimony of DIRECTV's 30(b)(6) witness were designated for use at trial and were read into the record during the trial.

Similarly, Dr. Cody determined that DIRECTV's broadcast operations are a primary value driver because they "allow[] for delivery of the video entertainment content to customer's [sic] homes." Cody Rpt., R. p. 750; Tr., R. p. 332:24- 333:12. Further emphasizing the importance of content and broadcast operations to DIRECTV in particular, Dr. Cody noted that, although deep subscription discounts have historically been used by cable and satellite companies to attract new customers, DIRECTV has shifted its marketing focus to attracting new customers through increased investment in unique content and advanced broadcasting technology. Cody Rpt., R. p. 751.

Dr. Cody found that DIRECTV's marketing services are a primary value driver for DIRECTV because those activities attract new customers and also produce additional income from existing customers who upgrade their accounts, as well as advertise DIRECTV's content to entice consumers to switch to DIRECTV or upgrade their accounts. *Id.*, R. pp. 750-751. Dr. Cody explained that marketing "has a direct impact on the amount of money that customers are willing to pay." Tr., R. p. 336:1-6.

Finally, Dr. Cody identified customer service as a primary value driver because such activities improve customer retention and attract new subscribers. Cody Rpt., R. p. 752. Dr. Cody also found that customer service helps generate additional income from existing customers who are more likely to upgrade their accounts because they are happy with DIRECTV's service. Tr., R. p. 339:5-22. In analyzing the importance of customer service to DIRECTV, Dr. Cody noted DIRECTV's extensive efforts to improve customer service, including negotiating and establishing agreements with other service providers to offer bundled internet and telephone services in conjunction with DIRECTV's satellite

television services, as well as investing in a cross-functional learning lab dedicated to generating and testing ideas to improve customer service. Cody Rpt., R. p. 752.

**B. Location of DIRECTV's Income-Producing Activities**

After identifying DIRECTV's income-producing activities, Dr. Cody determined the location where those activities took place by using a formula based on payroll and assets, two widely accepted and economically reasonable measures of economic activity. Tr., R. p. 352:7- 354:18.

The first method used DIRECTV's total payroll expense as a proxy to determine the portion of the income-producing activities occurring inside and outside South Carolina (the "Payroll Method"). Tr., R. p. 352:22- 353:24. Dr. Cody explained that it was reasonable to use payroll as a proxy because for "each of those value-generating or income-producing activities I described, there's a very large labor content, [such as] negotiating contracts, building and maintaining [a] broadcast network, marketing, and providing customer service." Tr., R. p. 352:25- 353:14. Dr. Cody noted that *Lockwood Greene Engineers, Inc. v. South Carolina Tax Commission*, 293 S.C. 447, 361 S.E.2d 346 (Ct. App. 1987), also used payroll as a proxy to determine where the taxpayer's income generating activities took place. Tr., R. p. 353:15-19.

The second method, which Dr. Cody determined to be the most appropriate (Tr., R. p. 354:3-6), used a combination of (i) DIRECTV's total payroll expense and (ii) the net book value of certain of DIRECTV's assets as proxies to determine the portion of the income-producing activities occurring inside and outside of South Carolina (the "Payroll and Assets Method"). Tr., R. p. 352:7- 353:24. Dr. Cody explained that he believed the

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