THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 08 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
HONORABLE RALPH KING ANDERSON, III, CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

Case No. 14-ALJ-17-0158-CC
Appellant Case No. 2015-001509

DIRECTV, Inc. and Subsidiaries, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Nicole M. Wooten (Bar No. 73594)
Counsel for Litigation
William J. Condon, Jr. (Bar No. 73632)
Managing Counsel for Litigation
Mary Beth Campbell (Bar No. 100025)
Counsel for Litigation
Milton G. Kimpson (Bar No. 7917)
General Counsel for Litigation
PO Box 12265
Columbia, SC 29211
803-898-5130

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

ARGUMENTS

This Court should affirm the Amended Order of the ALC because, under the applicable standard of review, the factual findings of the ALC are supported by substantial evidence, the ALC made no errors of law, the Amended Order did not violate any of DIRECTV's constitutional rights, and the Amended Order was not arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion.

In an appeal from the decision of an administrative agency, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) provides the applicable standard of review and provides the grounds under which this Court may reverse or modify the ALC's decision. The Administrative Procedures Act states that an appellate court's review of an ALC order "must be confined to the record" and that an appellate court "may not substitute its judgment for the

judgment of the ALJ as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610. To affirm on the basis of substantial evidence, the South Carolina Supreme Court explained that “this Court need only find, looking at the entire record on appeal, evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion that the ALC reached.” Barton v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob. Parole & Pardon Servs., 404 S.C. 395, 401, 745 S.E.2d 110, 113 (2013) (citing Hill v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Envtl. Control, 389 S.C. 1, 9–10, 698 S.E.2d 612, 617 (2010)). “The mere possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent a finding from being supported by substantial evidence.” Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t. of Motor Vehicles, 380 S.C. 600, 605, 670 S.E.2d 674, 677 (2008) (internal citations omitted).

I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT APPLIED THE PROPER BURDEN OF PROOF AND CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF PROOF

The ALC applied the correct burden of proof and properly found that DIRECTV failed to meet its burden of proof because DIRECTV failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that DIRECTV’s IPA extended beyond the delivery of the signal into the homes and onto the television screens of its South Carolina customers. (R. pp. 40-41; Amended Order pp. 10-11). Further, the ALC properly found that, while some evidence reflected that DIRECTV’s advertising may produce some income, the evidence did not reflect what portion of the advertising was attributable to South Carolina sales leaving the ALC “to speculate.” (R. pp. 40-42; Amended Order pp. 10-12).

The standard of proof in a contested case is by a preponderance of the evidence. Section 1-23-600(A)(5). “[T]he burden of proof rests upon him who has the affirmative

of the issue and does not shift to the defendant even when aided, in the first instance, by a rebuttable presumption.” Ford v. Atl. Coast Line R. Co., 169 S.C. 41, 168 S.E. 143, 167 (1932); see also Leventis v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, 340 S.C. 118, 132, 530 S.E.2d 643, 651 (Ct. App. 2000). The ALC properly recognized that “[b]ecause DIRECTV is challenging a determination by the Department that it must source its South Carolina subscription receipts from South Carolina customers to the numerator of the gross receipts ratio, DIRECTV has the burden of proof.” (R. p. 37; Amended Order p. 7) (citations omitted).

The ALC hears a contested case as the de novo fact finder and may draw its own conclusions. Young v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Env’tl. Control, 383 S.C. 452, 680 S.E.2d 784 (Ct. App. 2009); Risher v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Env’tl. Control, 393 S.C. 198, 207, 712 S.E.2d 428, 433, reh’g denied (July 21, 2011). As the finder of fact, the ALC can choose to accept, in part or in whole, the testimony of witnesses based on its own view of a witness’ credibility and the weight of the evidence. MRI at Belfair, LLC v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Env’tl. Control, 392 S.C. 314, 324, 709 S.E.2d 626; 631. DIRECTV had the burden of proof in this matter, and as the finder of fact, the ALC is entitled to assign as much or as little weight to evidence as it wishes. Id. Furthermore, the ALC is free to reach its own conclusions of law. Engaging and Guarding Laurens County’s Environment (EAGLE) v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Env’tl. Control, 407 S.C. 334, 344, 755 S.E.2d 444, 449 (2014).

The ALC established that DIRECTV did not satisfy its burden of proof because its evidence was insufficient to prove that there were other IPAs. (R. pp. 41-43; Amended Order pp. 11-13). Although DIRECTV asserts that it established that the

Department's assessment was incorrect, (Appellant's Initial Br. at 17), after its review of the evidence, the ALC properly concluded that "pursuant to Section 12-6-2295(A)(5), DIRECTV's income-producing activity includes the customers' subscriptions and delivery of the signal into the location and onto the television screens of its customers," (R. pp. 40-51; Amended Order pp. 10- 21). Simply put, the Department established that the IPA in this matter is the delivery of the signal into South Carolina homes – without this activity – DIRECTV would not have generated the income in this matter. For instance, the Department witnesses testified that the IPA in South Carolina should include South Carolina subscription revenue and this is consistent with how similar businesses in South Carolina file their corporate tax returns.² (R. pp. 196-197; 202; 208-209; Hr'g Tr. 292:14-293:5, 313:22-25, 340:19-341:6, 341:19-343:1). DIRECTV is providing a service to customers in South Carolina, and the subscription revenue precisely identifies that IPA occurring in South Carolina.³ (R. p. 209; Hr'g Tr. 344:17-24). As Dr. Harrison testified, the service being sold in South Carolina is "the provision of television services in your home." (R. p. 225; Hr'g Tr. 406:17-18).

²In its brief, DIRECTV states the Department auditor expressly stated in his audit report that market base sourcing was used in this matter. However, as testified at trial, DIRECTV first used the phrase "market-based sourcing" in its own statement attached to the amended returns for tax years 2006, 2007, and 2008. (R. p. 199; Hr'g Tr. 303:16-304:1). Moreover, as acknowledged by the ALC in its Amended Order, the Department clarified its position during trial. (R. p. 36; Amended Order p. 6, n. 5).

³Although the Department witnesses state that the Department looked to the customer's location in apportioning DIRECTV's South Carolina subscription revenue, each witness further testified that the Department's focus in identifying and sourcing the income-producing activity of a taxpayer is the transaction itself. (R. pp. 198; 203; 209; 211; Hr'g Tr. 297:11-14; 318:16-20; 344:17-24; 350:17-22). Any analysis related to the customer in this matter is incidental to the primary focus of DIRECTV's activit(ies).

Although the ALC stated that DIRECTV's IPAs may not be limited to this activity, DIRECTV retained the responsibility to prove its case by a preponderance of the evidence and failed to do so. (R. pp. 40; 25; Amended Order p. 10; Recon. Order p. 3). More specifically, the ALC made the following findings of fact, stating that "DIRECTV's evidence was either insufficient or not credible":

- (1) "The 'payroll-and-assets method does not provide a reasonable approximation of the income-producing activities performed by DIRECTV in South Carolina or the value attributable to such activities.'"
- (2) "Though [DIRECTV's] evidence did reflect that its advertising probably produced some income, the evidence did not reflect what portion of DIRECTV's cost was either attributable to South Carolina customers or may have influenced South Carolina customers to subscribed to DIRECTV."
- (3) "[I]t is possible that advertising performed within or without [] South Carolina could be considered income-producing activity. However, DIRECTV did not provide any evidence that reflected how much of its advertising was directed at South Carolina and what impact such advertising had on revenue generated in South Carolina. Therefore, the Court cannot consider advertising in this case."
- (4) "DIRECTV simply did not provide sufficient information on how to apportion its subscription receipts between states in which it believes income-producing activities occur."

(R. pp. 25-26; 41-42; 49-50; Recon. Order pp. 3-4; Amended Order pp. 11-12, 19-20).

Moreover, the following excerpt from the Amended Order summarizes the ALC's view of DIRECTV's evidence:

Dr. Cody's payroll-and-assets method does not provide a reasonable approximation of the income-producing activities performed by DIRECTV in South Carolina or the

value attributable to such activities. Though its evidence did reflect that its advertising *probably* produced some income, the evidence did not reflect that portion of DIRECTV's cost was attributable to South Carolina customers or may have influenced South Carolina customers to subscribe to DIRECTV. Instead, the Court was left to speculate as to the extent to which DIRECTV's content and programming, acquisition and distribution thereof, advertising, and customer service in installing and maintaining its equipment within this State influenced customers' decision to subscribe to DIRECTV. Moreover, it does not appear that some of the activities that DIRECTV attributed to income production are actually income-producing activities.⁴

(R. pp. 41-42; Amended Order pp. 10-11 (emphasis added)).

The above discussion demonstrates that the Court properly applied the proper burden of proof in this case. DIRECTV cites to a property tax case – in which the Department was not a party – as support for its assertion that the ALC should have dismissed this case because DIRECTV allegedly met its burden of proof by showing that the Department's determination was incorrect. Specifically, DIRECTV cites Cloyd v. Mabry, 295 S.C. 86, 367 S.E.2d 171 (Ct. App. 1988) to incorrectly assert that if DIRECTV established that the Department's assessment was incorrect, then it met its burden of proof, and therefore, the Department's assessment should be dismissed. Even if DIRECTV could somehow establish that it met its burden of proof and proved the Department's Determination is incorrect, DIRECTV's suggestion that the appropriate remedy is dismissal of the determination is disingenuous at best.

⁴The ALC found that many of the activities that DIRECTV says are income-producing activities, which the ALC calls pre-order and preparatory activities, are too attenuated to the production of income to be considered income-producing activities. (R. pp. 42-44; Amended Order, 12-14). Such activities include many of the so-called "value drivers" that DIRECTV called income-producing activities. (R. pp. 41-42; Amended Order, 11-12).

First, DIRECTV's use of Cloyd is misguided and not applicable here. Cloyd was decided in the context of a property tax matter and not with regard to corporate income tax. Cloyd, at 87, 367 S.E.2d at 172. Second, the Court of Appeals did not conclude that "appropriate relief" included absolving the taxpayer of any property tax liability through dismissal of the assessment. Id. at 88-89, 367 S.E.2d at 173.

Further, the ALC had the ability to determine the proper assessed value based on the evidence presented even when the county assessor's value is deemed incorrect. See Smith v. Newberry County Assessor, 350 S.C. 572, 578-79, 567 S.E.2d 501, 504-05 (Ct. App. 2002). Dismissal of the case is not the so-called "appropriate relief."

Moreover, DIRECTV is not entitled to a complete abatement of the assessment in this case because the ALC suggested that there may be IPAs in South Carolina in addition to the delivery of the signal into subscribers' homes and onto their televisions.

Finally, remanding this matter to the ALC for DIRECTV to present additional evidence permits DIRECTV to take a second bite at the apple when it had every opportunity to present relevant evidence at the hearing before the ALC. See City of Myrtle Beach v. Tourism Expenditure Review Comm., 407 S.C. 298, 755 S.E.2d 425, n. 5 (2014) (citing Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 333 S.C. 12, 32, 507 S.E.2d 328, 338 (1998) (citing Parker v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 288 S.C. 304, 342 S.E.2d 403 (1986))).

Simply put, DIRECTV failed to meet its burden of proof as it did not prove its IPA extended beyond the delivery of the signal into the homes and onto the television sets of its South Carolina customers. Furthermore, it failed to prove that less than 100% of the South Carolina subscription receipts should be sourced to South Carolina. Because

DIRECTV failed to make such a showing and evidence supports the ALC's finding that the Department's determination was correct, the ALC's decision was proper.^{5 6}

II. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT APPROPRIATELY CONSIDERED THE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD AND CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE DELIVERY OF THE SIGNAL INTO THE HOMES OF APPELLANT'S CUSTOMERS WAS APPELLANT'S INCOME-PRODUCING ACTIVITY

Based on substantial evidence and in accordance with the applicable statutes, the ALC properly determined that on a subscription-by-subscription basis Appellant's IPA was the delivery of the signal into its customers' homes and onto their television sets.

A. DIRECTV Is A Service Provider

DIRECTV is a media broadcasting company, and its primary income is derived from providing direct broadcast satellite video services to subscribers throughout the country. (R. pp. 213; 136; Hr'g Tr. 358:22-25; Hr'g Tr. 49:21-50:1). DIRECTV acknowledges that it is a service provider. (Appellant's Initial Br. p. 23, n. 6).

B. Standard Apportionment Method

The purpose of the South Carolina allocation and apportionment provisions is to provide for imposition of income tax "upon a base which reasonably represents the

⁵"Our Supreme Court 'has long realized the practical impossibility of a state's achieving a perfect apportionment of expansive, complex business activities such as those of Appellant, and has declared that "rough approximation rather than precision" is sufficient.' Covington Fabrics Corp. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n, 264 S.C. 59, 66-67, 212 S.E.2d S.E.2d 574, 577-78 (1975). The Court also noted that "[a]lthough exactness in apportionment is desirable, all that is required is a reasonable approximation." (R. p. 41; Amended Order p. 11).

⁶DIRECTV continuously asserts that the Department presented no credible evidence on the identity or location of DIRECTV's income-producing activities. However, as noted by the ALC, "whether the evidence was presented by the Department or DIRECTV, the evidence as set forth in the findings, established the income-producing activities that occurred in this State." (R. p. 27, n.6; Recon. Order p. 5).

proportion of the trade or business carried on within this State.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2210(B) (2014); Hertz Corp. v. S.C. Tax Comm’n, 246 S.C. 92, 142 S.E.2d 445 (1965).

The method of apportionment to be used depends upon the nature of the taxpayer’s business in this State. Because DIRECTV’s principal income is not derived from manufacturing or dealing in tangible personal property, DIRECTV shall apportion its adjusted net income to South Carolina under § 12-6-2290. This provision mandates the following gross-receipts method:

If the principal profits or income of a taxpayer are derived from sources other than those described in Section 12-6-2252 or Section 12-6-2310⁷, the taxpayer shall apportion its remaining net income using a fraction in which the numerator is gross receipts from within this State during the taxable year and the denominator is total gross receipts from everywhere during the taxable year. For purposes of this section, items included in gross receipts are as provided in Section 12-6-2295.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2290 (Supp. 2007).⁸

Thus, as a service provider, DIRECTV was required to use the single gross-receipts ratio, as supplemented by § 12-6-2295(A)(5) after 2006.⁹ The relevant subsection states:

⁷S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-2310 designates the apportionment factor to use for the following specific regulated industries: railroads, motor carriers, telephone service companies, pipelines, airlines, and shipping lines. For example, telephone companies must apportion its net income using a gross-receipts factor.

⁸In 1995, the General Assembly repealed Chapter 7 and added Chapter 6 of Title 12. Accordingly, section 12-7-1190 was replaced by § 12-6-2290 as the statute that directed service providers how to apportion their net income. In 2007, the General Assembly amended § 12-6-2290 by adding an additional sentence to the end of the existing statute. That sentence reads as follows: “For purposes of this section, items included in gross receipts are as provided in § 12-6-2295.” (R. p. 38, n.9; Amended Order at 8, n.9 (citing 2007 South Carolina Laws Act 110 (S.B 91))).

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